METALS AND HEALTH (TR SANCHEZ AND M TELLEZ-PLAZA, SECTION EDITORS)



The Utility of Machine Learning Models for Predicting Chemical Contaminants in Drinking Water: Promise, Challenges, and Opportunities

Xindi C. Hu¹ · Mona Dai² · Jennifer M. Sun² · Elsie M. Sunderland^{2,3}

Accepted: 15 September 2022 / Published online: 17 December 2022 © The Author(s) 2022

Abstract

Purpose of Review This review aims to better understand the utility of machine learning algorithms for predicting spatial patterns of contaminants in the United States (U.S.) drinking water.

Recent Findings We found 27 U.S. drinking water studies in the past ten years that used machine learning algorithms to predict water quality. Most studies (42%) developed random forest classification models for groundwater. Continuous models show low predictive power, suggesting that larger datasets and additional predictors are needed. Categorical/classification models for arsenic and nitrate that predict exceedances of pollution thresholds are most common in the literature because of good national scale data coverage and priority as environmental health concerns. Most groundwater data used to develop models were obtained from the United States Geological Survey (USGS) National Water Information System (NWIS). Predictors were similar across contaminants but challenges are posed by the lack of a standard methodology for imputation, pre-processing, and differing availability of data across regions.

Summary We reviewed 27 articles that focused on seven drinking water contaminants. Good performance metrics were reported for binary models that classified chemical concentrations above a threshold value by finding significant predictors. Classification models are especially useful for assisting in the design of sampling efforts by identifying high-risk areas. Only a few studies have developed continuous models and obtaining good predictive performance for such models is still challenging. Improving continuous models is important for potential future use in epidemiological studies to supplement data gaps in exposure assessments for drinking water contaminants. While significant progress has been made over the past decade, methodological advances are still needed for selecting appropriate model performance metrics and accounting for spatial autocorrelations in data. Finally, improved infrastructure for code and data sharing would spearhead more rapid advances in machine-learning models for drinking water quality.

Keywords Heavy metals · Drinking water · Health-based standards · Risk prediction · Machine learning

Introduction

Water is essential for life, yet the future of safe drinking water faces multifaceted challenges: climate change, aging infrastructure, lack of comprehensive monitoring data, and

This article is part of the Topical Collection on Metals and Health

Xindi C. Hu chu@mathematica-mpr.com

> Mona Dai monadai@g.harvard.edu

Jennifer M. Sun jennifersun@g.harvard.edu

Elsie M. Sunderland ems@seas.harvard.edu limited time and resources available to local utilities. The United States (U.S.) federal law that aims to ensure the safety of drinking water for the public is the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA). Regulatory standards are in place for more than 90 chemicals, but this represents only a small fraction of the chemicals used in commerce (>80,000) [1]. U.S. water quality standards are derived from risk-based

- ¹ Mathematica, Inc., 505 14Th St, #800, Oakland, CA 94612, USA
- ² Harvard John A. Paulson School of Engineering and Applied Sciences, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA
- ³ Department of Environmental Health, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA 02115, USA

health thresholds or by considering best-available technology [1]. For many drinking water contaminants, there are insufficient data to characterize risk-based standards. More than 40 million Americans rely on private wells rather than public water supplies to obtain their drinking water [2]. Private wells are not subject to the same monitoring and reporting requirements as public water supplies, and these populations often live in rural and under-resourced areas [3].

The availability of drinking water quality data is key to better understanding the human health impacts of drinking water contaminants. Unfortunately, the current monitoring system has significant gaps: it has low coverage for certain segments of the population like private well owners, it is tested infrequently, and monitoring results are often delayed. Universal screening of chemical drinking water contaminants is costly and logistically challenging. In recent years, an increasing number of studies have focused on developing predictive models for drinking water contamination. Such models may eventually allow a more proactive approach in protecting consumers from potential contaminants of health concern.

Spatial modeling approaches have been successfully used to predict inorganic contaminant concentrations (especially arsenic and nitrate) in well water at the local, regional, and national scales $[4\bullet, 5-7, 8\bullet\bullet]$. Modeling efforts have been motivated by concerns that private well users are not protected by current federal and state regulations. These efforts have been enabled by decades of monitoring data collected by the states to ensure compliance with the SDWA. Recently, modeling efforts have focused on supporting federal regulations for poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) given their priority as drinking water contaminants. For example, predictive models using Bayesian networks and random forest models have been developed to predict PFAS concentrations in private wells in North Carolina and New Hampshire $[9\bullet, 10\bullet]$. These studies have identified potentially important predictors based on the sources and transport of chemical contaminants in groundwater. Beyond private wells, a similar approach has been developed for community water supplies with expanded predictor lists that consider both natural processes governing the fate and transport of pollution and infrastructure related to the facilities [11, 12•].

Predictive models for water quality can help to prioritize testing in regions that are most likely to have elevated levels of contamination and to better understand factors driving spatial patterns in water quality. As these models improve with expanding monitoring data and refined machine-learning algorithms, they may also be useful for providing exposure predictions for contaminants from drinking water (continuous models). Such predictive exposure surfaces would enable a stronger link between water quality and human health, which would strengthen the impetus for new and stronger water quality regulations where needed. Because the SDWA is a federal law, modeling studies that synthesize regional data to provide national perspectives on the occurrence and magnitude of drinking water contaminants are especially useful.

This review synthesizes studies published in the past ten years that employ predictive analytics and machine learning to model drinking water contamination in the U.S. We conducted a systematic review to search and select studies to be included in this review. Based on this analysis, we summarize the strengths and limitations of existing studies, identify best practices that could accelerate research in this field, and discuss how to better leverage predictive analytics to improve drinking water safety and public health.

Methods

We searched for all English articles in three databases: National Library of Medicine's PubMed/MedLine, Elsevier's EMBASE, and Web of Science Core Collection (including the Science Citation Index and Conference Proceedings Citation Index- Science). We conducted a title and abstract search of the databases on January 20, 2022 for all articles published between January 1, 2012 and January 20, 2022 to capture a 10-year window. We constructed the search terms to capture three main concepts related to machine learning, drinking water, and chemicals. To ensure that search terms were appropriate, we iteratively refined them until we were able to retrieve 20 pre-identified key articles returned by the PubMed search to ensure that all relevant articles would be captured. We excluded articles that were not relevant to our topic of interest through an exclusion (NOT) term to limit the number of total articles returned by each database (Supplementary Information [SI] Table S1). For example, we included in the NOT term "review" to exclude studies that are reviews themselves, "air pollut*" to exclude studies about other environmental media, and "male/female/child" to exclude epidemiological studies. In total, our search returned 1261 articles. After removing over 200 duplicates, we added seven key articles that had not been returned from the original search strategy. We then manually screened titles and abstracts before reading full articles to determine which articles were most relevant for this review (SI Figure S1).

This review includes articles that used machine learning techniques to model chemical water pollutants that occur naturally and/or from anthropogenic sources. We considered articles based on their publication date rather than when data analysis occurred. We excluded articles that did not use a machine learning technique or focused on outcomes other than chemical contaminants (for instance, dissolved oxygen, dissolved organic carbon, and biological contaminants). We also excluded articles that were not in English, analyzed data from outside of the U.S., were an existing literature review (did not report original results), or focused on temporal (seasonal) rather than spatial analysis of chemical concentrations. The selection criteria resulted in a total of 27 articles in our literature review. We extracted and synthesized information from these papers on the machine learning techniques used, predictor categories, model outcomes, and data characteristics (SI Table S2.xlsx).

Results and Discussion

We synthesized our findings around four common steps used in predictive modeling studies: (1) data sources, (2) feature engineering, (3) model training, and (4) presentation of model results (Fig. 1).

Data Sources

Almost half (44%) of the 27 papers reviewed focused on nitrate as a drinking water contaminant and almost 30% were focused on arsenic (Fig. 2). Most studies (67%) used water quality data to develop models at the local scale (at the state-level or smaller). California, in particular the Central Valley,

was the most studied locations, considered by six papers in our review.

Large datasets on chemicals in drinking water are publicly available and have utility for machine learning analyses at varying geographic scales (Fig. 2). Most (81%) of the papers included in this review used data from public sources, most commonly from the United States Geologic Survey (USGS) National Water Information System (NWIS) for groundwater concentrations [13]. Other state repositories such as California's Groundwater Ambient Monitoring and Assessment (GAMA) Program were also frequently cited [15]. Most monitoring databases focused on groundwater rather than public water supplies. Only two of the reviewed studies used the US EPA's Safe Drinking Water Information System (SDWIS) that contains information on public water supplies $[8 \bullet \bullet, 16]$. It is essential that these common data repositories on drinking water are regularly maintained and updated. Table 1 provides examples of popular datasets for groundwater wells and drinking water supplies. Curation of state-level datasets into national datasets would allow for better understanding of national rather than regional scale drinking water quality and would better support federal regulatory efforts. For example, the Water Quality Portal (WQP) (i.e., Fig. 2) was established in 2017 to integrate data from multiple federal, state, tribal, and local agencies into one online database with over 290 million records [17]. The WQP is one of the largest



Fig. 2 Sampling sites for arsenic, nitrate, and hexavalent chromium well sites downloaded from the Water Quality Portal [13, 14], illustrating differences in data availability across chemicals

Data category	Limitations	Data administrator	Geographic cover- age	Example sources
Groundwater wells and relevant predictors Contaminant concentrations	Varying data avail- ability depend- ing on chemical	US government	National	USGS National Water Information System (NWIS)* [13]; US EPA Storage and Retrieval (STORET) data- hase* [10]
	anuou reguta- tion, unreported detection limit, high proportion of censored data varying spatial & temporal cover- age, ambiguity between well types	State government	State	Dasser [19] California Groundwater Ambient Monitoring and Assessment (GAMA) [15]; Iowa Statewide Rural Well Water Survey [20]; Minnesota Environmen- tal Mapper & Well Index [21, 22]; New Hamp- shire PFAS Sampling Map [23]; North Carolina Dry-Cleaning Solvent Cleanup Act Program [24]; North Carolina Department of Environ- mental Quality [10•]; Florida Well Surveillance Program [25]; Wisconsin Groundwater Retrieval Mervio, (GPN) 7561
		University	Regional	Heidelberg University National Center for Water Quality Research (NCWQR) [27]; University of California, Davis Dairy Monitoring Program [28]; University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point Well Water Viewer [29]
Well characteristics (e.g., location, depth, co-contaminants, chemistry)	Varying spatial & temporal cover- age	US government	National	USGS National Water Information System (NWIS)* [13]; US EPA Storage and Retrieval (STORET) data- base* [19]
		State government	State	California Groundwater Ambient Monitoring and Assessment (GAMA) [15]; Wisconsin Ground- water Retrieval Network (GRN) [26]
		University	Regional	Heidelberg University National Center for Water Quality Research (NCWQR) [27]
Soil characteristics	Varying spatial & temporal cover-	US government	National	USGS Soil Survey Geographic Database (SSURGO) [30]
	age	State government	State	USDA National Resources Conservation Service US General Soil Map by State (STATSGO2) [31]
Hydrology (e.g., groundwater discharge, streamflow)	Varying spatial & temporal cover- age	US government	National	USGS National Water Quality Assessment Pro- gram [32]; USGS Ground Water Atlas Map [33]
Water chemistry	Monitors precipi- tation chemistry, not water sources directly	University	National	University of Wisconsin-Madison National Atmos- pheric Deposition Program [34]

Table 1 Public data sources for machine learning modeling related to chemical concentrations in private well, public water supply, or both

Table 1 (continued)				
Data category	Limitations	Data administrator	Geographic cover- age	Example sources
Geology	Multiple bedrock layers make geological representation difficult	US government	National	USGS National Geologic Map [35]
Aquifer	Multiple bedrock layers make esti- mation of aquifer types difficult	US government	National	USGS Ground Water Atlas Map [33]
Public water supplies and relevant predictors				
Contaminant concentration	Varying data availability	US government	National	US EPA Unregulated Contaminants Monitoring Report (UCMR) [36]
	depending on chemical and/ or regulations varying spatial & temporal coverage	Nonprofit	National	Environmental Working Group (EWG) Tap Water Database [37]
Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) violations	Varying temporal coverage, limited availability of	US government	National	US EPA Safe Drinking Water Information System (SDWIS) [38]; US EPA Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO) [39]
	data downloads	State government	State	California Drinking Water Watch [40]
Public water supply parameters (e.g., source, population served, treatment technology)	Lacking detailed parameters,	US government	National	US EPA Safe Drinking Water Information System (SDWIS) [38]
	lacking data dictionary, varying temporal coverage, limited downloading available	State government	State	California Drinking Water Watch [40]

Table 1 (continued)				
Data category	Limitations	Data administrator	Geographic cover- age	Example sources
Public water supply service area	Inconsistent, inde- pendent report- ing & estimation methods between governing enti- ties; lacking uni- fied database	State government	State	Arizona Department of Water Resources [41]; Arkansas Department of Health [42]; California Water Resources Control Board [43]; Connecti- cut Department of Public Health [44]; Illinois Geospatial Data [45]; Kansas Department of Health and Environment [46]; Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection [47]; Minnesota Health Department [48]; Missouri Department of Natural Resources [49]; New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection [50]; Oklahoma Water Resources Board [51]; Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection [52]; Texas Water Development Board [53]; Utah Division of Drinking Water [54]; Washington Department of Health [55]
		University	Local	Los Angeles Water Hub [56]
General predictors Land use (e.g., agriculture, chemical application)	Land use cat- egories could be	US government	National	USGS National Land Cover Database (NLCD) [57]
	more generaliz- able	State government	State	California Land Use Surveys [58]
		University	National	NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC) & Columbia University Center for International Earth Science Information Network (CIESIN) [59]
Potential point source discharge (e.g., industry, military, airport)	Incomplete use and emissions reporting for unregulated contaminant	US government	National	US EPA Permit Compliance System (PCS) & Inte- grated Compliance Information System (ICIS) [60]; US EPA Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) [61]; US EPA Enforcement and Compliance His- tory Online (ECHO) [39]; US EPA National Pri- orities List (NPL) [62]; US EPA EJScreen [63]
		State government	State	California GeoTracker [64]; Michigan Environ- mental Mapper [65]
		University	National	NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC) & Columbia University Center for International Earth Science Information Network (CIESIN) [59]

Table 1 (continued)				
Data category	Limitations	Data administrator	Geographic cover- age	Example sources
Land characteristics (e.g., elevation, slope)	Varying spatial resolution com- piled over multi- ple, overlapping data sources	US government	National	USGS National Elevation Dataset [66]
Climate (e.g., temperature, precipitation, evapotranspiration)	Varying spatial resolution requiring poten- tial temporal aggregation	US government University	National National	Oak Ridge National Lab Daymet [67] PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University [68]
Sociodemographic	Limited data avail- able depending on spatial unit & year	US government	National	US Census [69]; US EPA EJScreen [63]
		University	National	NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC) & Columbia University Center for International Earth Science Information Network (CIESIN) [59]
Housing characteristics (e.g., housing age, rental status, etc.)	Limited data avail- able depending on spatial unit & year	US government	National	US Census [69]

*database contributing to Water Quality Portal

data repositories, combining data from the frequently used USGS NWIS with other datasets to improve public access [17]. Public datasets enable transparency and access for the general public to engage with scientific information. While some datasets are kept private for security reasons, providing aggregated datasets would be useful for future assessments. Other nonprofit organizations such as the Environmental Working Group have curated their own historical databases to explore drinking water contamination [18].

Some large datasets on drinking water quality such as the Water Quality Portal span a temporal range between the 1960s and present [17]. Metadata on when and where measurements were taken are therefore important in these databases. Most water samples were obtained from the water source (groundwater well) rather than at the point of use. More sample collection at the household level would be useful for understanding contamination at the tap from distribution systems.

Most papers (70%) reviewed in this work developed binary classification models for predicting chemical concentrations beyond a predetermined threshold. By contrast, continuous regression models that could create more detailed prediction maps of areas with poor water quality are lacking. Continuous models were developed for nitrate, tetrachloroethylene (PCE), fluoride, and PFAS and primarily relied on tree-based, neural network, and spatial methods. It is interesting to note that all eight papers that modeled arsenic contamination used binary rather than continuous outcomes. This is an important gap given the substantial public health implications of arsenic contamination in drinking water. Highly censored data (high frequency of non-detect values) makes it challenging for researchers to develop continuous regression models for many drinking water contaminants. Multiple techniques were employed to correct for values below the limit of detection but there was a lack of consistency across studies. Methods included simple imputation, sampling from a modeled distribution, or re-balancing classes using techniques such as oversampling.

Pre-processing of data varied across the studies reviewed and depended on the data source as well as on suitability to the model. Most groundwater studies assigned predictors by well location. Mair and El-Kadi [70] aggregated predictors within a capture zone (spanning multiple wells) due to military sensitivity. Hu et al. [9•] quantified the impact of point sources on private wells using an exponential decay function of hydrological distance between the source and the well location. For atmospheric deposition of PFAS, the authors considered a 10-km buffer radius for estimating source attribution [9•].

Several methods were used across studies to aggregate data if a well was sampled more than once. Most commonly, authors chose to report observed chemical measurements using summary statistics. For example, Ayotte et al. $[4\bullet]$ reported maximum concentration, George and Dixit [71•] reported an average, and Hu et al. [9•] reported median concentrations. Only one paper by Hino et al. [12•] selected randomly among repeated samples. Anning et al. [72] selected a single sample with the greatest ancillary data collected simultaneously. Studies by Rosecrans et al. [16, 73] and Tesoriero et al. [74] selected for samples with known well depth. Erickson et al. [8••] chose to report only the most recent measurements.

These strategies work for each article within the bounds of their data availability. However, what if well locations are unknown or measured predictor values do not exactly match the geographic location of measured outcomes? Aggregating data over an area appears reasonable but requires critical thinking regarding the spatial unit to which the data should be aggregated [70]. The resulting relationships between predictors and outcomes may be different depending on the spatial unit, an issue known as the modifiable areal unit problem (MAUP) [75]. Depending on the research question and data availability, authors should choose the most relevant spatial units depending on the necessary level of detail. Exploring multiple spatial units, such as drawing buffers at multiple radii or focusing on various hydrological unit code (HUC) levels during exploratory analysis of the datasets, can help to decide the best unit of analysis.

Feature Engineering

Predictor categories were largely consistent among the 27 reviewed papers. While the actual number of factors and specific quantities included in models varied greatly, all models focused primarily on natural factors falling into at least one of the following categories: bedrock geology, hydrology, soil chemistry, and climate. Well construction and groundwater characteristics were also frequently included in most models, along with anthropogenic factors such as land use. These factors have all been previously well-established in the literature and therefore readily accepted as predictors related to chemical contamination of drinking water. The predictor categories overlapped for multiple chemicals. For papers focused on policy or procedural failures (SDWA or inspection violations, for example), the models included characteristics related to community water systems or contamination sources [11, 12•]. The three PFAS papers in this literature review also considered possible point sources in their modeling $[9\bullet, 10\bullet, 71\bullet]$. In other papers, more discrete model parameters were included. The tetrachloroethylene model by Messier et al. [76] focused only on anthropogenic sources in its land use regression model. The lead (Pb) paper by Fasaee et al. [77] and the PFAS paper by Roostaei et al. [10•] considered household characteristics.

Table 2 Performance metrics for	machine learning models to pred	ict drinking water quality			
Performance metric	Purpose	Definition	Limitation	Score range	Papers reported
Classification					
Accuracy	Determines proportion of total cor- rect classifications	$\frac{(TP+TN)}{TP+TN+TP+FN}$ Ranges between 0 and 1	Provides an overoptimistic estima- tion of the classifier ability on the majority class	Multi-class: 0.367–0.826 Binomial: 0.67–0.94	[4•, 5, 7, 8••, 11, 12•, 72–74, 77–84]
Sensitivity	Determines model's ability to recall true positives	$\frac{TP}{Ranges}$ between 0 and 1	Sensitive to the classification threshold, lower threshold leads to high sensitivity	0.07–0.84	[4•, 5−7, 8••, 12•, 73, 74, 77–79, 81–84]
Specificity	Determines model's ability to cor- rectly classify true negatives	$\frac{TN}{Ranges}$ between 0 and 1	Sensitive to the classification threshold, higher threshold leads to high specificity	0.43-0.98	[4•, 5, 7, 8••, 12•, 22, 23, 27, 28, 30–33]
Area under the receiver operator curve (AUC-ROC) or C-statistic	Determines probability that model will rank randomly chosen positive example higher than ran- domly chosen negative example	The area under the curve of false positive rate vs true positive rate at different classification thresh- olds between 0 and 1 Ranges between 0 and 1	Only used for binary classification problem	0.72-0.92	[4•, 7, 8••, 9•, 10•, 12•, 73, 74, 78, 79, 81]
Matthew's correlation coefficient (MCC)	Measures association between observed & predicted values	$\frac{TP*TN-FP*FN}{Kanges Between - f and f and f)*(TN+FP)}$	Applies to only one classification threshold	0.31-0.72	[80]
F1 Score	Finds the balance between precision and recall	$\frac{2*TP}{2*TP+FP+FN}$ Ranges between 0 and 1	Applies to only one classification threshold	0.46-0.74	[79, 80]
Cohen's kappa statistic	Determines how well machine learning classifier matched observations	$\frac{p_0-p_e}{1-p_e}$ Ranges between – 1 and 1	Not easy to interpret	0.46-0.62	[7, 8••]
Regression					
Coefficient of determination (R ²)	Determines proportion of variance explainable by predictors	$1 - \frac{\sum (y_i - \hat{y}_i)^2}{\sum (y_i - \mu_i)^2}$ Ranges between 0 and 1	Increases with the number of predictors	0.12-0.85	[4•, 5, 6, 16, 71•, 82, 83, 85••, 86, 87]
Mean square error (MSE)	Measures how spread-out data is around line of best fit	$rac{1}{R} \sum_{i} \left(y_i - \widehat{y}_i ight)^2$ Ranges from 0 to ∞	Differs based on the scale of the response variable	0.05-5.18	[16, 76, 80, 83, 85••]
Mean absolute error (MAE)	Measures error between paired observation and prediction	$\frac{1}{R}\sum_{i} y_i - \hat{y}_i $ Ranges from 0 to ∞	No penalty for large errors in prediction	0.13-3.06	[80]
TD two modifices TN two see	tivo: ED folos accitivo: EN folo		6 the model is mooned of the es	month hotmon the mos	in andiotion and the orthological

TP, true positives; *TN*, true negatives; *FP*, false positives; *FN*, false negatives; p_0 , overall accuracy of the model; p_e , measure of the agreement between the model predictions and the actual class values as if happening by chance

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$ Springer

The consistency of these categories demonstrates the availability of these parameters at multiple spatial scales, even for local groundwater flow conditions. However, a more challenging direction may be to expand these parameters from small spatial coverage to large (for instance, national) areas. Most papers (89%) reported variable importance scores and listed top predictors, although the individual predictors were not consistent across the models. For the purpose of making comparisons, it would be helpful if papers reported what broad predictor categories appeared most important rather than the individual predictors themselves. By stating both broad predictor categories as well as specific predictors, variable importance is more easily comparable among papers utilizing similar data characteristics and sources. This may be difficult to quantify because almost all predictor classes were listed among the top predictors for at least one model. Inconsistencies existed among papers in defining and highlighting the top predictors reported by their models. A few papers focused on data availability in choosing wells for their analyses. Poorly described feature maps of environmental factors affecting groundwater quality would impede the ability to credit the predictability of regional models outside their present areas of interest.

Model Training, Tuning, and Performance

Most models included in these papers performed well (Table 2). Specifically, the accuracy range for binary classification models was between 0.67 and 0.94 (AUC-ROC/Cstatistic between 0.72 and 0.92), with over 70% of papers reporting accuracy scores above 0.8. In addition, most papers reported specificity scores greater than sensitivity scores, favoring the correct classification of true negatives. The reported strong model performances (especially for nitrate and arsenic) indicate the potential for machine learning models to similarly execute well for other chemicals that have yet to be explored. Multiclass classification models performed poorer, with the best model from Anning et al. [72] classifying nitrate concentrations correctly 48.6% of the time (although the accuracy increased to 80.4% if the classification was only one category off). For continuous models, large ranges were observed for the most reported metrics: the coefficient of determination ($R^2 = 0.12 - 0.85$) and mean squared error (MSE = 0.05-5.18). However, the most appropriate performance metrics should be carefully considered based on the purpose of the research and characteristics of the input dataset. Some example metrics and their purposes are shown in the table below (Table 2).

Most papers reported similar metrics to help compare model performance. Most commonly, prediction metrics were reported for hold-out datasets determined either by applying tenfold cross-validation or from pre-specifying a proportion of the total dataset as a randomly chosen test dataset. While some papers (35%) reported both accuracy and AUC-ROC scores, most papers (65%) reported only accuracy scores. Considering only accuracy scores may lead to a biased conclusion regarding model utility, especially when datasets of drinking water contamination are often highly imbalanced. For instance, if data falls into just one bin, the model will replicate the same distribution as the observations regardless of how chemical concentrations are truly distributed. Although the machine learning model will recall the predicted data precisely, these results may not reflect the true distribution of chemical concentrations accurately. In our review, three papers corrected for class imbalance using oversampling techniques: two employed the synthetic minority oversampling technique (SMOTE), and the third article used a spatial declustering method [4•, 80, 82].

Presentation of Model Results

About two-thirds of the studies (67%) included in this review created surface maps to visualize either the probability of exceeding a threshold with respect to a chemical of interest or for the predicted chemical concentration. Only three papers looked beyond predicting chemical concentrations and calculated additional health and/or policy metrics. Hino et al. [12•] calculated a risk score for community water systems failing inspection. Similarly, Ransom et al. [87] estimated 1.4 million Americans depend on groundwater with nitrate levels exceeding 10 mg/L and Ayotte et al. [4•] estimated that 2.1 million Americans use domestic well water with arsenic values exceeding 10 µg/L. The 18 total papers presenting predicted surface maps may be useful when overlaid with maps related to demographics or national disease burdens. Spatially linking groundwater contamination data with other datasets is critical for connecting drinking water quality concerns to health, environmental restoration, and environmental justice issues. Overlaying this information by zip code or county information would also help to make this information more accessible by the general public since individuals may be more familiar with their residential locations than the physical location of their drinking water supply. However, such an effort would need to take into consideration the MAUP, as discussed above. The MAUP is a source of bias that can present inconsistent statistical results based on the size and shape of the spatial unit analyzed and is especially relevant when aggregating data [75]. To enhance accessibility for a wider audience, a single public repository of downloadable drinking water contamination data accompanied by maps would improve public understanding and transparency of water quality issues. A user-friendly website (for instance, story maps) that walks visitors through general findings in their area of interest would better serve the science communication aspect of these results so that

individuals beyond just researchers or water managers can engage with the data. Several efforts in this direction set good examples for how they can be useful for communicating drinking water exposure information to the public but have either been discontinued or limited in scope chemically or spatially [88–91]. Additional work in this area has the potential to inform both communities and researchers interested in managing risks posed by drinking water contaminants.

Conclusions and Future Research Directions

Big data and machine learning models have been used to predict drinking water contamination for both regulated contaminants such as arsenic and nitrate, as well as emerging chemicals of concern such as PFAS. They show great promise as an alternative and complementary way of assessing drinking water quality compared to traditional grab sample monitoring, which is time and resource intensive and places a considerable burden on regulatory bodies (for community water supplies) and private property owners (for domestic wells). Many existing studies show good model performance for predicting whether drinking water quality exceeds a certain threshold (binary prediction) but models perform more poorly when predicting absolute contamination levels (continuous prediction). Categorical models are best used to enhance traditional sampling schemes for monitoring drinking water quality. Model results are most useful when they are interpreted with the expert knowledge of local conditions, such as verifying susceptible emission sources.

Improving models with continuous outcomes is an important future area for improvement in this field, and is needed to bridge the gap between environmental and human exposures. Better mechanistic understanding of sources of drinking water contaminants, transport, and distribution could be used to develop a comprehensive list of factors influencing these processes that could be included as predictors in such models. A future application of such models includes improved exposure assessment for drinking water contaminants in epidemiologic studies to better understand impacts on human health, following examples for nitrate and arsenic [7, 82].

Other future priorities for research that would aid in establishing drinking water standards at the federal level include developing national scale models that follow the examples created for arsenic and nitrate [4•, 7, 12•, 87]. Availability of monitoring data across the entire country for arsenic and nitrate has made it possible to develop prediction models at the national scale. For emerging contaminants such as PFAS, state-level monitoring datasets exist but additional efforts are needed to synthesize such data into a national scale monitoring data repository. However, when combining datasets of contaminants in drinking water from multiple sources, different reporting limits and detection limits can pose a challenge to data interoperability and needs to be given special considerations. Remaining challenges toward addressing these goals include data availability and interoperability at the national scale, methodological advances in training and evaluating models including choosing the appropriate model performance metrics and accounting for spatial autocorrelation in model training, and better incentives for code sharing to facilitate model averaging for better predictive results.

Future Research Directions

Improving public data sharing is essential for advancing this field. Inorganic contaminants are the focus of publicly available databases such as the USGS NWIS [13]. For emerging organic contaminants such as PFAS and other unregulated chemicals, most data used to train predictive models are still owned by individual investigators or state agencies. Improved data sharing would enhance collaboration and allow for training better models. Confidentiality concerns represent a barrier toward these goals (i.e., preserving the privacy of private well samples). However, approaches drawn from the health care machine learning literature could provide a potential solution. In the health care field, several methods such as resampling, probabilistic graphical modeling, latent variable identification, and outlier analysis have been proposed to develop synthetic data to preserve patient privacy [92, 93].

Data interoperability that allows available data on contaminant occurrence to be related to environmental and sociodemographic factors is essential. Presently, there are incongruent spatial scales and coverages of training data for different predictors (Table 1). For example, training data and model predictors may be available as vector files with clearly defined boundaries such as public water supply service areas or county boundaries but can be challenging to combine due to differing spatial boundaries. High-resolution raster files such as temperature data from the PRISM climate group [94] and sociodemographic data from the Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center [59] show promise for facilitating spatial data linkages. Another strength of these data sources is that they provide information for broad categories, such as multiple socioeconomic (education attainment, income, poverty level) or climate (precipitation, relative humidity, temperature) variables. Sharing these common input variable sources facilitates easier comparison among papers.

Several methodological improvements would improve the performance of machine-learning models for drinking water quality. First, there is a need for improved techniques for handling imbalanced (highly censored) data during the model training process. If one class of the outcome is rare, the overall accuracy will be biased. Imagine a sample with 98% negatives and 2% positives; a "dumb" classifier that blindly predicts negatives would generate a 98% accuracy score but would be far from a strong model. Instead, focusing on the accuracy per class in the confusion matrix can still be useful for assessing the frequency of the true positive rate and true negative rate. As these predictive models are treated as a type of decision support tool, the exact choice of evaluation metrics will also depend on the use case, such as weighting sensitivity more if the decision makers are worried about false negatives. Other techniques to handle imbalanced data such as downsampling (training on a low subset of the majority class) and upweighting (adding weight to the downsampled class) are also useful and could be more frequently applied. While these are often used in the machine learning literature [95, 96], their appearance in environmental predictive modeling is still rare. Another methodological gap includes how to incorporate spatial autocorrelation into drinking water quality prediction. Failure to account for spatial autocorrelation may result in higher bias in prediction especially when the spatial autocorrelation is very strong, or the predictors included in the model fail to account for the underlying spatial structure. This is an active area of research with different solutions being proposed and no dominant solutions yet [97–99].

Better incentives for code sharing are needed to promote reproducible science and facilitate model averaging. Several journals, such as PLos ONE and Nature, have set expectations that author-generated code underpinning the findings in a manuscript needs to be made publicly available. Model averaging is a technique to reduce modeling uncertainty by making predictions using multiple models that could have promise in this area. Several air pollution and watershed modeling studies have utilized Bayesian Model Averaging and reported that it serves as a strong alternative to model selection as it improved the prediction performance of models in a logical and meaningful way [100, 101].

Safe drinking water is essential for protecting public health. Presently, predictive models are helpful for identifying high-risk areas to prioritize sampling efforts. Although many advances in this field have occurred over the past decade, additional progress is needed for widespread use. Priorities for the future include methodological advances for measuring model performance appropriately and accounting for spatial autocorrelation, and better infrastructure and more resources devoted to data and code sharing.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-022-00389-x.

Acknowledgements The editors would like to thank Ana Navas-Acien for handling the review of this manuscript.

Author Contribution Study conception and design by XCH, MD, EMS. Literature search and data analysis by XCH and MD. The first draft of the manuscript was written by XCH and MD. All co-authors critically revised the work. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding Funding for this work was provided by the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences Superfund Research Center (P42ES030990).

Data Availability All data are available in the main text or the supplementary materials.

Declarations

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no competing interests.

Human and Animal Rights and Informed Consent This article does not contain any studies with human or animal subjects performed by any of the authors.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

Papers of particular interest, published recently, have been highlighted as:

- Of importance
- •• Of major importance
- US Congress. Safe Drinking Water Act [Internet]. 1974;93–523. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/ 2020-05/documents/safe_drinking_water_acttitle_xiv_of_ public_health_service_act.pdf; https://www.congress.gov/bill/ 93rd-congress/senatebill/433?q=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B% 22cite%3APL93-523%22%5D%7D&s=1&r=1
- Maupin MA, Kenny JF, Hutson SS, Lovelace JK, Barber NL, Linsey KS. Estimated use of water in the United States in 2010 [Internet]. Reston, VA; 2014 p. 64. Report No.: 1405. Available from: http://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/cir1405. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- 3. Dieter CA. Water availability and use science program: estimated use of water in the United States In 2015. Government Printing Office; 2018.
- 4.• Ayotte JD, Medalie L, Qi SL, Backer LC, Nolan BT. Estimating the high-arsenic domestic-well population in the conterminous United States. Environ Sci Technol American Chemical Society. 2017;51:12443–54. National model applied to true hold-out dataset with comprehensive aggregation of predictor variables & estimation of affected population.

- Nolan BT, Gronberg JM, Faunt CC, Eberts SM, Belitz K. Modeling nitrate at domestic and public-supply well depths in the Central Valley. California Environ Sci Technol United States. 2014;48:5643–51.
- Nolan B, Fienen M, Lorenz D. A statistical learning framework for groundwater nitrate models of the Central Valley, California, USA. J Hydrol. 2015;531:902–11.
- Lombard MA, Bryan MS, Jones DK, Bulka C, Bradley PM, Backer LC, et al. Machine learning models of arsenic in private wells throughout the conterminous United States as a tool for exposure assessment in human health studies. Environ Sci Technol American Chemical Society. 2021;55:5012–23.
- 8.•• Erickson ML, Elliott SM, Brown CJ, Stackelberg PE, Ransom KM, Reddy JE, et al. Machine-learning predictions of high arsenic and high manganese at drinking water depths of the glacial aquifer system, Northern Continental United States. Environ Sci Technol American Chemical Society. 2021;55:5791–805. Comprehensive paper applying techniques to adjust for data imbalance.
- 9.• Hu XC, Ge B, Ruyle BJ, Sun J, Sunderland EM. A statistical approach for identifying private wells susceptible to perfluoro-alkyl substances (PFAS) contamination. Environ Sci Technol Lett. American Chemical Society; 2021;8:596–602. Predictive models developed for emerging chemicals. Incorporate impact from point sources in the model.
- 10. Roostaei J, Colley S, Mulhern R, May AA, Gibson JM. Predicting the risk of GenX contamination in private well water using a machine-learned Bayesian network model. J Hazard Mater. 2021;411: 125075. A predictive model developed for emerging chemicals. Incorporates modeled chemical releases from an atmospheric fate and transport model.
- Best KB, Miro ME, Kirpes RM, Kaynar N, Najera CA. Datadriven decision support tools for assessing the vulnerability of community water systems to groundwater contamination in Los Angeles County, Environ Sci Policy. 2021;124:393–400.
- Hino M, Benami E, Brooks N. Machine learning for environmental monitoring. NATURE SUSTAINABILITY. 2018;1:583–8.
 Calculated risk score for failing SDWA inspection. Data available online.
- U.S. Geological Survey. National Water Information System (NWIS) [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://waterdata.usgs. gov/nwis/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- National Water Quality Monitoring Council. Water Quality Portal [Internet]. National Water Quality Monitoring Council. 2022. Available from: https://www.waterqualitydata.us/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- California State Water Resources Control Board. Groundwater Ambient Monitoring and Assessment Program (GAMA) Groundwater Information System Map [Internet]. Available from: https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/ gamamap/public/Default.asp. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Rosecrans CZ, Belitz K, Ransom KM, Stackelberg PE, McMahon PB. Predicting regional fluoride concentrations at public and domestic supply depths in basin-fill aquifers of the western United States using a random forest model. Sci Total Environ [Internet]. 2022. p. 806. Available from: https://www.embase. com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&id=L2015465519& from=export. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Read EK, Carr L, DeCicco LA, Dugan H, Hanson PC, Hart JA, et al. Water quality data for national-scale aquatic research: the Water Quality Portal. Water Resour Res. 2017. p. 17351745.
- 18. Uche UI, Evans S, Rundquist S, Campbell C, Naidenko OV. Community-level analysis of drinking water data highlights the importance of drinking water metrics for the state, federal environmental health justice priorities in the United States. Int J

Environ Res Public Health. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute; 2021;18:10401.

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Storage and Retrieval Data Warehouse (STORET) [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/waterdata/water-quality-portal-data-disco very-tool. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Iowa Department of Natural Resources. The Iowa state-wide rural well-water survey: site and well characteristics and water quality, December 1992 [Internet]. 1992. Available from: http:// publications.iowa.gov/26518/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Minnesota Pollution Control Agency. Groundwater monitoring and assessment program [Internet]. 2010. Available from: https://www.pca.state.mn.us/water/groundwater-monit oring. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Minnesota Department of Health. Minnesota Well Index [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/environment/water/mwi/index.html. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- 23. New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services. PFAS Sampling Map [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://nhdes. maps.arcgis.com/apps/View/index.html?appid=66770bef14 1c43a98a445c54a17720e2&extent=-73.5743,42.5413,-69. 6852,45.4489. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality. Drycleaning solvent cleanup act program= [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/waste-manag ement/dry-cleaning-solvent-cleanup-act-program. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Florida Department of Health. Well surveillance program [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://www.floridahealth.gov/envir onmental-health/drinking-water/well-surveys.html. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. Groundwater Retrieval Network (GRN) [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://dnr.wisconsin.gov/topic/Groundwater/GRN. html. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- National Center for Water Quality Research (NCWQR). Tributary data download [Internet]. 2009. Available from: https:// www.heidelberg.edu/academics/research-and-centers/natio nal-center-for-water-quality-research/tributary-data-downl oad. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- California state central valley regional water quality control board. Dairy representative monitoring program [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centr alvalley/water_issues/confined_animal_facilities/groundwater_ monitoring/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Center for Watershed Science and Education. Wisconsin well water viewer [Internet]. University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point. 2022. Available from: https://www3.uwsp.edu:443/cnr-ap/water shed/Pages/WellWaterViewer.aspx. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) database, digital data set [Internet]. Natural Resources Conservation Service. 2014. Available from: http:// soildatamart.nrcs.usda.gov/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. State Soil Geographic (STATSGO) Data Base [Internet]. Natural Resources Conservation Service. 2006. Available from: https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/ wps/portal/nrcs/main/soils/survey/geo/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Geological Survey. National Water-Quality Assessment (NAWQA) [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://www.usgs. gov/mission-areas/water-resources/science/national-water-quali ty-assessment-nawqa. Accessed 22 May 2022.
- U.S. Geological Survey. Ground water atlas of the United States [Internet]. 2016. Available from: https://pubs.usgs.gov/ha/ha730/ gwa.html. Accessed 31 May 2022.

- NADP Program Office. National Atmospheric Deposition Program (NRSP-3) [Internet]. Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene. 2022. Available from: https://nadp.slh.wisc.edu/preci pitation/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Geological Survey. National Geologic Map Database [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://ngmdb.usgs.gov/ngmdb/ ngmdb_home.html. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Fifth unregulated contaminant monitoring rule [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/dwucmr/fifthunregulated-conta minant-monitoring-rule. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- 37. Environmental Working Group. EWG's tap water database [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://www.ewg.org/tapwa ter/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Safe Drinking Water Information System (SDWIS) [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://www3.epa.gov/enviro/facts/sdwis/search. html. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO) [Internet].2022. Available from: https://echo.epa.gov/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- California State Water Resources Control Board. Drinking Water Watch database [Internet]. Division of Drinking Water. 2020. Available from: https://sdwis.waterboards.ca.gov/ PDWW/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Arizona Department of Water Resources. Arizona Department of Water Resources GIS Data [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://gisdata2016-11-18t150447874z-azwater.opendata.arcgis.com/search?tags=boundaries. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- 42. Arkansas GIS Office. Arkansas public water systems (polygon) [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://gis.arkansas.gov/produ ct/public-water-systems-polygon/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- California State Geoportal. California drinking water system area boundaries [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://gis.data.ca. gov/datasets/fbba842bf134497c9d611ad506ec48cc_0. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Connecticut State Department of Public Health. Connecticut public water supply map [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://portal.ct.gov/DPH/Drinking-Water/DWS/Public-Water-Supply-Map. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Illinois Geospatial Data clearinghouse data. Illinois data [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://clearinghouse.isgs.illinois. edu/data. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Kansas Data Access and Support Center. Kansas data catalog [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://kansasgis.org/catalog/ index.cfm. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- MassGIS (Bureau of Geographic Information). Massachusetts public water supplies [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https:// www.mass.gov/info-details/massgis-data-public-water-suppl ies. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Minnesota Geospatial Commons. Minnesota drinking water supply management areas [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https:// gisdata.mn.gov/dataset/water-drinking-water-supply. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Missouri Spatial Data Information Service. Missouri spatial data information service open data portal [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://msdis.missouri.edu/data/index.html. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- New Jersey Geographic Information Network. Purveyor service areas of New Jersey [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https:// njogis-newjersey.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/00e7ff046d db4302abe7b49b2ddee07e_13?geometry=-76.835,39.762,-72. 663,40.497. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Oklahoma Water Resources Board. Oklahoma water system service areas [Internet]. 202. Available from: https://

home-owrb.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/water-system-servi ce-areas. Accessed 31 May 2022.

- Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection. Pennsylvania public water supply [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 May 31]. Available from: https://koordinates.com/layer/97545-penns ylvania-public-water-supply-2018/
- 53. Texas Water Development Board. Texas water service boundary viewer [Internet]. TWSB Viewer. 2020. Available from: https:// www3.twdb.texas.gov/apps/WaterServiceBoundaries/Home/ Overview. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Utah's State Geographic Information Database. Utah authoritative data [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 May 31]. Available from: https://opendata.gis.utah.gov/datasets/1d2535e8c31247b 9aaff664f6ac9c45d_0. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Washington State Department of Health. Washington downloadable data sets [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://doh. wa.gov/data-statistical-reports/data-systems/geographic-infor mation-system/downloadable-data-sets. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- California Center for Sustainable Communities. Los Angeles water hub [Internet]. University of California, Los Angeles. 2017. Available from: https://waterhub.ucla.edu/index.html. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Geological Survey. National Land Cover Database [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/eros/ science/national-land-cover-database. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- California Department of Water Resources. Land use surveys [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://gis.water.ca.gov/app/ CADWRLandUseViewer/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Center for International Earth Science Information Network -CIESIN - Columbia University. Population estimation service, version 3 (PES-v3) [Internet]. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC). 2018. Available from: https:// doi.org/10.7927/H4DR2SK5. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Permit Compliance System (PCS) and Integrated Compliance Information (ICIS) [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/enviro/ pcs-icis-search. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) program [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https:// www.epa.gov/toxics-release-inventory-tri-program. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Superfund: National Priorities List (NPL) [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https:// www.epa.gov/superfund/superfund-national-priorities-listnpl. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. EJScreen [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://ejscreen.epa.gov/mapper/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- 64. California State Water Resources Control Board. GeoTracker [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://geotracker.waterboards. ca.gov/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- 65. Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and energy. Environmental mapper [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https:// www.mcgi.state.mi.us/environmentalmapper/. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Gesch DB, Evans GA, Oimoen MJ, Arundel S. The National Elevation Dataset. American society for photogrammetry and remote sensing; 2018. p. 83–110. Available from: http://pubs. er.usgs.gov/publication/70201572. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- 67. Thornton MM, Shrestha R, Wei Y, Thornton PE, Kao S, Wilson BE. Daymet: daily surface weather data on a 1-km grid for North America, Version 4. ORNL Distributed Active Archive Center; 2020; Available from: https://daac.ornl.gov/cgi-bin/dsviewer.pl? ds_id=1840

- PRISM Climate Group. PRISM Gridded Climate Data [Internet]. Oregon State University. 2022. Available from: https://prism. oregonstate.edu
- U.S. Census Bureau. American Community Survey 5-year estimates [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://www.census.gov/ data.html.
- Mair A, El-Kadi AI. Logistic regression modeling to assess groundwater vulnerability to contamination in Hawaii, USA. J Contam Hydrol Netherlands. 2013;153:1–23.
- 71.• George S, Dixit A. A machine learning approach for prioritizing groundwater testing for per-and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). J Environ Manage. 2021;295: 113359. Predictive models developed for emerging chemicals.
- Anning D, Paul A, McKinney T, Hungtington J, Bexfiled L, Thiros S. USGS scientific investigations report 2012–5065: predicted nitrate and arsenic concentrations in basin-fill aquifers of the Southwestern United States. 2012. Available from: https:// pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2012/5065/. Accessed 4 Feb 2022.
- Rosecrans CZ, Nolan BT, Gronberg JM. Prediction and visualization of redox conditions in the groundwater of Central Valley. California Journal of Hydrology. 2017;546:341–56.
- Tesoriero A, Gronberg J, Juckem P, Miller M, Austin B. Predicting redox-sensitive contaminant concentrations in groundwater using random forest classification. Water Resour Res. 2017;53:7316–31.
- Wong DWS. The Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP). In: Janelle DG, Warf B, Hansen K, editors. WorldMinds: geographical perspectives on 100 problems: commemorating the 100th anniversary of the association of American geographers 1904–2004 [Internet]. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 2004. p. 571–5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-2352-1_93.
- Messier KP, Akita Y, Serre ML. Integrating address geocoding, land use regression, and spatiotemporal geostatistical estimation for groundwater tetrachloroethylene. Environ Sci Technol. 2012;46:2772–80.
- 77. Fasaee MAK, Berglund E, Pieper KJ, Ling E, Benham B, Edwards M. Developing a framework for classifying water lead levels at private drinking water systems: a Bayesian belief network approach. Water Res [Internet]. 2021. p. 189. Available from: https://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction= viewrecord&id=L2010173047&from=export. Accessed 31 May 2022.
- Erickson ML, Elliott SM, Christenson CA, Krall AL. Predicting geogenic arsenic in drinking water wells in glacial aquifers, North-Central USA: accounting for depth-dependent features. Water Resour Res. 2018;54:10,172-10,187.
- Ayotte JD, Nolan BT, Gronberg JA. Predicting arsenic in drinking water wells of the Central Valley, California. Environ Sci Technol American Chemical Society. 2016;50:7555–63.
- Bedi S, Samal A, Ray C, Snow D. Comparative evaluation of machine learning models for groundwater quality assessment. Environ Monit Assess Netherlands. 2020;192:776.
- Canion A, McCloud L, Dobberfuhl D. Predictive modeling of elevated groundwater nitrate in a karstic spring-contributing area using random forests and regression-kriging. Environ Earth Sci. 2019;78:271.
- Messier KP, Wheeler DC, Flory AR, Jones RR, Patel D, Nolan BT, et al. Modeling groundwater nitrate exposure in private wells of North Carolina for the Agricultural Health Study. Sci Total Environ. 2019;655:512–9.
- Wheeler DC, Nolan BT, Flory AR, DellaValle CT, Ward MH. Modeling groundwater nitrate concentrations in private wells in Iowa. Sci Total Environ. 2015;536:481–8.

- Yang Q, Jung HB, Marvinney RG, Culbertson CW, Zheng Y. Can arsenic occurrence rates in bedrock aquifers be predicted? Environ Sci Technol. 2012;46:2080–7.
- 85.•• Ransom KM, Nolan BT, A Traum J, Faunt CC, Bell AM, Gronberg JAM, et al. A hybrid machine learning model to predict and visualize nitrate concentration throughout the Central Valley aquifer, California, USA. Sci Total Environ. Netherlands; 2017;601–602:1160–72. Multiple local & national data sources aggregated together. Final dataset made publicly available online.
- Li S, Bhattarai R, Cooke RA, Verma S, Huang X, Markus M, et al. Relative performance of different data mining techniques for nitrate concentration and load estimation in different type of watersheds. Environ Pollut England. 2020;263:114618.
- Ransom KM, Nolan BT, Stackelberg PE, Belitz K, Fram MS. Machine learning predictions of nitrate in groundwater used for drinking supply in the conterminous United States. Sci Total Environ Netherlands. 2022;807:151065.
- Nigra AE, Chen Q, Chillrud SN, Wang L, Harvey D, Mailloux B, et al. Inequalities in public water arsenic concentrations in counties and community water systems across the United States, 2006–2011. Environ Health Perspect. 2020;128: 127001.
- Stoiber T, Evans S, Temkin AM, Andrews DQ, Naidenko OV. PFAS in drinking water: an emergent water quality threat. Water Solutions. 2020;1: e49.
- Environmental Protection Agency. Environmental monitoring for public access and community tracking (EMPACT) [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://cfpub.epa.gov/si/si_public_record_ Report.cfm?Lab=NERL&dirEntryID=56149. Accessed 2 Aug 2022.
- California State Water Resources Control Board. SAFER maps and data [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://www.water boards.ca.gov/safer/safer_data.html. Accessed 2 Aug 2022
- Chen RJ, Lu MY, Chen TY, Williamson DFK, Mahmood F. Synthetic data in machine learning for medicine and healthcare. Nat Biomed Eng Nature Publishing Group. 2021;5:493–7.
- Tucker A, Wang Z, Rotalinti Y, Myles P. Generating high-fidelity synthetic patient data for assessing machine learning healthcare software. npj Digit Med. Nature Publishing Group; 2020;3:1–13.
- PRISM Climate Group. 30 Year Normals [Internet]. Oregon State University. 2020. Available from: http://prism.oregonstate. edu. Accessed 20 May 2022.
- Nakagome S, Luu TP, He Y, Ravindran AS, Contreras-Vidal JL. An empirical comparison of neural networks and machine learning algorithms for EEG gait decoding. Sci Rep. Nature Publishing Group; 2020;10:4372.
- Ardila D, Kiraly AP, Bharadwaj S, Choi B, Reicher JJ, Peng L, et al. End-to-end lung cancer screening with three-dimensional deep learning on low-dose chest computed tomography. Nat Med Nature Publishing Group. 2019;25:954–61.
- Hu L, Chun Y, Griffith DA. Incorporating spatial autocorrelation into house sale price prediction using random forest model. Transactions in GIS [Internet]. Available from: https://onlinelibr ary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/tgis.12931. Accessed 20 May 2022.
- Hengl T, Nussbaum M, Wright MN, Heuvelink GBM, Gräler B. Random forest as a generic framework for predictive modeling of spatial and spatio-temporal variables. PeerJ. PeerJ Inc.; 2018;6:e5518.
- Wright MN, Ziegler A. ranger: a fast implementation of random forests for high dimensional data in C++ and R. J stat soft [Internet]. 2017. p. 77. Available from: http://arxiv.org/abs/1508. 04409. Accessed 20 May 2022.

- 100. Tran H, Kim J, Kim D, Choi M, Choi M. Impact of air pollution on cause-specific mortality in Korea: results from Bayesian model averaging and principle component regression approaches. Sci Total Environ. 2018;636:1020–31.
- 101. Wang H, Lu K, Zhao Y, Zhang J, Hua J, Lin X. Multi-model ensemble simulated non-point source pollution based on

Bayesian model averaging method and model uncertainty analysis. Environ Sci Pollut Res. 2020;27:44482–93.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.